
 
 

 
eastsussex.gov.uk 

LEAD MEMBER FOR RESOURCES AND CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
DECISIONS to be made by the Lead Member for Resources and Climate Change,  
Councillor Nick Bennett 
 
THURSDAY, 15 JULY 2021 AT 9.00 AM  
 
++ THE LEAD MEMBER WILL BE TAKING THE DECISIONS REMOTELY VIA TEAMS ++  
 
COUNTY HALL, LEWES 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1   Decisions made by the Lead Cabinet Member on 6 July 2021  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 
2   Disclosure of Interests   

Disclosure by all Members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the Members regard the interest as prejudicial under 
the terms of the Code of Conduct  
 

3   Urgent items   
Notification of any items which the Lead Member considers urgent and proposes to take 
at the appropriate part of the agenda.  
 

4   Notice of Motion: Climate Change  (Pages 5 - 42) 
Report by the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport  
 

5   Any urgent items previously notified under agenda item 3   
 

 
 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive   
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent 
LEWES BN7 1UE 7 July 2021 
 
Contact Simon Bailey, Democratic Services Officer,  
01273 481935 
Email: simon.bailey@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and is accessible at: 
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm 
 
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

LEAD MEMBER FOR RESOURCES AND CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
DECISIONS made by the Lead Member for Resources and Climate Change, Councillor Nick 
Bennett, on 6 July 2021 at via Teams   
 

 
Councillor Bob Standley spoke on items 4 and 8 (see minutes 17 and 20) 
 
 
15 DECISIONS MADE BY THE LEAD CABINET MEMBER ON 17 JUNE 2021  
 
15.1 The Lead Member approved as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 17 
June 2021.  
 
16 REPORTS  
 
16.1 Reports referred to in the minutes below are contained in the minute book. 
 
17 FORMER WADHURST HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE, WADHURST  
 
17.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Chief Operating Officer, together with 
exempt information contained in a later agenda item.  
 
DECISIONS  
 
17.2 The Lead Member RESOLVED to (1) agree to the disposal of the former Wadhurst 
Household Waste Recycling Centre, Wadhurst to the preferred bidder following the marketing of 
the site in Spring 2021 and an analysis of the offers contained in the Exempt report at a later 
agenda item; and  
 
(2) delegate authority to the Chief Operating Officer to approve the details of the disposal to the 
preferred bidder and take any other actions considered appropriate to give effect to this decision 
and secure best value in accordance with s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
Reasons  
 
17.3 The Council has reviewed offers and an analysis has been undertaken to understand the 
wider set of financial and non-financial benefits reflecting the Council’s Community Asset 
Transfer policy.  A preferred bidder has been identified.  
 
18 LEASE RENEWAL AT ST MARY'S HOUSE, EASTBOURNE  
 
18.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Chief Operating Officer together with 
exempt information contained in a later agenda item.  
 
DECISIONS  
 
18.2 The Lead Member RESOLVED to (1) agree to the proposed lease terms of St Mary’s 
House, contained in the exempt report at a later agenda item; and  
 
(2) delegate authority to the Chief Operating Officer to approve the final lease negotiations and 
take any other actions considered appropriate to give effect to the above recommendations, and 
to secure best value in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999.  
 
Reasons  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
 
 

 

18.3 The Council has been reviewing its office requirement based on business needs for 
frontline services in key localities.  One of the key offices is St Mary’s House, Eastbourne, 
where the Council is tenant under a lease of the whole building.  The term of the lease ends in 
November 2021.   
 
 
19 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
19.1 It was RESOLVED to exclude the public and press for the remaining agenda items on 
the grounds that if the public and press were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information as specified in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), namely information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).  
 
20 FORMER WADHURST HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE, WADHURST - 
EXEMPT INFORMATION  
 
20.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Chief Operating Officer which contained 
exempt information.  
 
DECISIONS  
 
20.2 The Lead Member RESOLVED to agree the recommendations contained in the report.  
 
Reasons  
 
20.3 The report contained exempt information in support of an earlier agenda item.  
 
21 LEASE RENEWAL AT ST MARY'S HOUSE, EASTBOURNE - EXEMPT INFORMATION  
 
21.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Chief Operating Officer which contained 
exempt information.  
 
DECISIONS  
 
21.2 The Lead Member RESOLVED to agree the recommendations contained in the report.  
 
Reasons  
 
21.3 The report contained exempt information in support of an earlier agenda item.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Report to: Lead Member for Resources and Climate Change 

Date of meeting: 15 July 2021 

By: Director of Communities, Economy and Transport 

Title: Notice of Motion: Climate Change 

Purpose: To consider a Notice of Motion calling for the County 
Council to revise its target for achieving carbon neutrality.  

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Lead Member is recommended to recommend that 
Council rejects the motion for the reasons set out in the report.  

 

 
1           Background 

 

1.1 The following Notice of Motion has been submitted by Councillor Tutt:  
 
“At the meeting of the County Council on the 15th October 2019, East Sussex County 
Council declared a Climate Emergency and set a target to achieve carbon neutrality by 
2050. 

In light of increased evidence of the impact of global warming and the urgency required in 
order to address this, East Sussex County Council resolves to revise that target to 2030 and 
will with immediate effect establish a plan of actions in order to deliver on this target.  In 
addition, Council resolves to incorporate an environmental assessment on every Council 
report.” 

1.2 In line with County Council practice, the matter has been referred by the Chairman 
to the Lead Member for Resources and Climate Change for consideration to provide 
information and inform debate on the Motion. The Lead Member’s recommendation on this 
Notice of Motion will be reported to the Council at its meeting on 23 July 2021. 

2  Supporting Information 
 

 2.1 In October 2019 the County Council agreed the following Motion, that the County 
Council:  

(i) supports the aims and implementation of the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 

(ii) recognises and declares a Climate Emergency. 

(iii) will set a target of achieving carbon neutrality from its activities as soon as 
possible and in any event by 2050, in line with the new target for the UK agreed by 
Parliament in 2019. 

(iv) will build upon the work we have undertaken to date, will commit resources where 
possible and will align our policies to address the Climate Emergency. 

(v) will set out a clear plan of action to reduce our carbon emissions. 

(vi) will report annually at the May County Council Meeting on its progress towards 
the target.  

(vii) will investigate all possible sources of external funding and match funding to 
support this commitment, as well as writing to central government with respect to the 
emergency to request funding to implement swift appropriate actions”. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



(viii) will use our Environment Strategy to provide a strong unified voice in lobbying 
for support to address this emergency, sharing best practice across East Sussex 
and more widely through other partners”. 
 

2.2 In line with the commitment made in the Motion agreed in 2019, the County Council 
developed a Climate Emergency Action Plan to set out how the organisation would go about 
reducing its carbon emissions. The Action Plan (attached at appendix 1) was agreed by 
Cabinet in June 2020 and built on work undertaken since the first Carbon Management Plan 
was put in place in 2009. The Action Plan set out the scale of the carbon footprint, described 
the carbon budget that the Council will aim to keep within, and proposed an initial two year 
delivery plan for 2020-22. 
 
Assessing the Council’s carbon emissions  
 
2.3 A clear understanding of the carbon emissions generated by our activities is a key 
foundation for working towards carbon neutrality. The corporate Action Plan set out an initial 
assessment of the carbon emissions from the Council’s activities using the Greenhouse Gas 
(GHG) Protocol, an accepted global standard for measuring and reporting on an 
organisation’s GHG emissions. The Protocol divides GHG emissions into three categories, 
referred to as Scope 1, 2 and 3. Together, these represent the total GHG emissions related 
to an organisation and its activities. Each scope covers the following emissions:  

 Scope 1 – emissions from the combustion of gas, oil, petrol, diesel, coal, or wood. 
For the Council this covers buildings and vehicles where the Council is responsible 
for paying for the fuel.  

 Scope 2 – emissions from the electricity purchased by the Council.  

 Scope 3 – emissions that result from all other activities of the Council. There are 15 
different scope 3 categories defined in the Protocol, some of which do not apply to 
a local authority (e.g. emissions from manufactured goods). The categories that do 
apply include emissions from business travel, water usage, waste, procurement and 
staff commuting. In other words, the County Council’s scope 3 emissions mostly 
comprise the scope 1 and 2 emissions of other organisations (e.g. contractors). 

 
2.4 The County Council has measured scope 1, 2 and some scope 3 emissions since 
2008-9. Data in relation to scope 1 and 2 is of higher quality, whereas data in relation to 
most scope 3 emissions is much more varying in detail and quality. The Action Plan 
highlights that scope 3 emissions are by far the largest part of the Council’s estimated 
carbon footprint, notably through the supply chain i.e. the goods and services that are 

purchased by the County Council in order to deliver its functions. This is typical for a local 

authority, as most of the Council’s revenue and capital budgets are used to procure goods, 
services and works from third parties. For an upper tier authority this includes major services 
such as highways maintenance, waste disposal, and education, as well as social care 
provision commissioned from a myriad of relatively small independent providers.  The Action 
Plan also highlights that the largest proportion of scope 1 and 2 emissions is from schools. 
Overall, this means that the majority of carbon emissions generated by the Council’s 
activities are from sources over which the Council has influence but limited direct control.  
 
2.5 The County Council therefore has a large and complex carbon footprint which is 
larger than that of all the East Sussex District and Borough Councils combined. Further work 
is required to quantify most scope 3 emissions before they can begin to be integrated reliably 
into the Council’s carbon footprint and modelled for future emission reductions, notably from 
procurement.  Consequently, the Action Plan focusses primarily on reducing scope 1 and 2 
emissions first, for example carbon emissions from buildings, and investing in more 
renewable energy. This is a similar approach to that adopted by all the East Sussex District 
and Borough Councils that have a carbon action plan in place.   
 
  

Page 6



Working towards carbon neutrality from our activities 
2.6 The approach adopted in the Action Plan is that, in order to make its fair contribution 
to reducing county-wide emissions, the County Council will aim to cut its own emissions by 
13% per year. This is based on a recognised methodology developed by the UK’s Tyndall 
Centre for Climate Change Research for calculating the carbon budget by local authority 
area.  A carbon budget represents the total quantity of greenhouse gases which can be 
released to the atmosphere if we are to contain temperature rises to a given level – this can 
be calculated globally and then broken down into national and sub-national budgets. The 
Tyndall model, based on current scientific understanding, indicates that to stay within a 
budget based on a rise of no more than 1.5 degrees centigrade above pre-industrial levels 
(as set out in the UN Paris Agreement on Climate Change) requires cutting emissions from 
East Sussex by an average of about 13% per year. This 13% science-based annual 
reduction target is what the County Council is working towards, rather than a fixed end date 
by which it will become carbon neutral. 
 

 2.7 Achieving a reduction target of 13% per year, every year, is extremely challenging.  
The County Council has had a significant programme of activity in place to cut carbon 
emissions for a number of years, during which time it has occasionally exceeded a 13% 
reduction per year in its scope 1 and 2 emissions.  However, it is likely to become more 
costly and complex to reach this target over time as the ‘quick wins’ – the more cost effective 
and simpler measures, and those which are within the Council’s direct control - are 
completed. Appendix 2 summarises some of the work that has been completed, some of 
the work that is planned on climate change and how we track our progress against the 13% 
per year reduction target.  

 
 2.8 Officers have successfully bid for additional external funding to increase the County 

Council’s ability to deliver greater carbon reduction (e.g. £480k in 2021-22 to deliver projects 
under the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund). In addition, work is on-going to establish 
what further resources the County Council could allocate to meeting this ambitious target.  
This will include modelling of the different scenarios as to how the County Council might get 
to net zero, by when and the potential range of costs of each scenario. The modelling 
depends on a number of factors, including knowing the size of the County Council’s 
buildings estate, and related transport emissions, post-COVID. The work to determine this 
is currently in progress.  

 
 2.9 In 2020-21 the Place Scrutiny Committee undertook a Scrutiny Review of 

Becoming a Carbon Neutral Council. The review looked at the work underway to progress 
towards net zero emissions from the Council’s activities and made a number of 
recommendations (attached at appendix 3) which were all accepted and are being 
implemented in line with the agreed action plan. The review excluded the Council’s supply 
chain from its scope, in recognition of the lack of information at present on this category of 
emissions. 

 
 Timescale for achieving net zero 
 2.10  There are significant practical uncertainties about how the County Council can 

achieve net zero. These include uncertainty over the most appropriate technologies to adopt 
and when, through to how the scale of change required will be funded.  In the absence of 
greater certainty the Council has adopted a good practice approach to achieving net zero 
by focusing on cutting its emissions, rather than counting the purchase of electricity from 
renewable sources towards becoming net zero or relying on carbon off-setting to deliver 
most of its carbon reduction.  This approach increases the challenge but delivers 
significantly more robust carbon reduction.  

 
 2.11 There is also a significant gap in Government policy in important areas that needs 

to be resolved before the County Council can make evidence-based decisions on key 
investments, for example on how best to decarbonise heat and transport. Investing in 
advance of these policy areas being addressed creates a significant risk of spending on 

Page 7



assets that might not provide the best approach to carbon reduction and may become 
stranded assets, effectively becoming redundant due to changes in technology. For 
example, the County Council could invest heavily in heat pumps, yet it is possible that, with 
the appropriate Government policy and technological changes in place, green hydrogen 
could offer a more effective means to decarbonise heat in a number of buildings at a later 
date.   

  
 2.12 The UK will host the COP26 summit in Glasgow in November, the United Nations 

climate change conference. We expect Government funds and initiatives to be launched in 
the run-up to the conference, which may present opportunities for ESCC. The Government 
has also committed to publish its comprehensive net zero strategy on how it will meet the 
national net zero target in advance of the conference. Any agreement reached at the 
conference on tackling climate change in the next decade will inform the national approach 
to delivering net zero and, in all likelihood, some of the Council’s future plans. 

 
 2.13 Although the modelling to further inform our planning towards net zero has yet to 

be completed, it is clear that committing to an earlier target date of just eight and a half years 
from now in 2030 would have significant implications. For example, it would require the 
investment in capital assets, such as heat pumps and electric vehicles, at a premium 
because there is not yet a mass market in place with an established supply chain.  This is 
clear from the County Council’s work to install heat pumps at just one site this year, which 
has had to be delayed until next year due to the lack of capacity amongst suppliers. The 
County Council is responsible for over 255 buildings. Setting a date of 2030 would require 
carrying out often complex and time-consuming whole building retrofit programmes to an 
average of more than 30 buildings per year, in addition to the normal planned and reactive 
building maintenance programmes. The cost of this is not known but would be substantial 
and needs to be viewed in the context of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan which 
envisages a budget shortfall of £18.4m over the next three years.  On this basis, should 
such a target be pursued, the funding would likely have to come from the Council revisiting 
how and to whom it provides services. 

 
 2.14 In relation to our contracts with external providers, which make up the largest 

proportion of our carbon footprint, the Council can influence emissions generated by these 
organisations by requiring GHG reduction targets when renewing relevant contracts, where 
appropriate. This approach has been adopted, for instance, in the current highways contract. 
However, there will be a number of contractors and suppliers who will not have data on their 
emissions, or will have relatively small-scale emissions, or do not have the capital funding 
available to make the significant changes required in order to reduce their emissions. 
Consequently, the Council will focus on contractors and suppliers where the likely scale of 
their emissions and the ability of the Council to influence these emissions are greatest, for 
instance where the Council is a major client. Addressing the emissions from our large and 
diverse supply chain through our influence rather than direct control is therefore a complex 
and significant task which will take time. It may also take investment from our providers, 
some of whom are small and the capacity for them to make this investment is not known, 
for example in relation to care provision. 

 
 2.15 ESCC’s science-based approach to cutting emissions by 13% year on year is in 

line with advice to Councils from the Local Government Association, which has stated that: 
“There is no science to picking an end year where emissions are zero. Setting a target year 
by which emissions will be zero can be symbolically important. However, what counts is the 
trajectory of the commitments to carbon reduction between now and the target zero 
emissions year. This defines the actual level of emissions reduction being promised over 
the budget period. This is what matters to climate change”.      

 
 
 
 

Page 8



 Assessing the environmental impact of decisions 
2.16 The recommendations of the Scrutiny Review of Becoming a Carbon Neutral Council 
included a recommendation that “Reports that go to the Executive and Council should 
include an assessment or statement of the carbon emissions impact of the 
proposals/decision in the report where relevant and material”.  In response to the 
recommendation, as set out in the action plan, it has been agreed that “Prior to 
implementation of this recommendation, work will be undertaken by officers to consider 
whether and how potential carbon emission impacts of decisions could be assessed, and to 
enable Directors to decide in what circumstances this should be reflected in their reports to 
the Executive and Council”. The outcome of this work will inform updated corporate report 
writing guidance to provide appropriate advice to report authors. Work is in progress in 
response to the recommendation and will be reported back to Place Scrutiny Committee as 
part of the monitoring of the review. 
  
3 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1 The Council has recognised the severity of the climate crisis by declaring a climate 
emergency and setting a clear and evidence-based trajectory towards carbon neutrality 
from its activities. The scale of the Council’s functions and the diversity of providers the 
Council works with makes this a complex and substantial task. Significant work has already 
been undertaken to reduce emissions and this has been built upon by the Climate 
Emergency Action Plan which is driving the next phase and has been further informed by 
the recent Scrutiny Review.  

3.2 However, there remain significant uncertainties and unresolved challenges which 
impact on our plans. These range from the further work needed to fully quantify our 
emissions and model in detail what is needed for the Council to achieve net zero, to 
understanding what investment and policy support will be available nationally and how 
technology and the supply chain will develop to support implementation. The specific 
implications and costs of committing to becoming carbon neutral from all the Council’s 
activities within the next eight and a half years are unknown, but it is evident that they would 
be substantial and almost certainly unachievable. 

3.3 Given the major financial and technological hurdles outlined above, there is no 
realistic prospect of achieving a target date of 2030. Attempting to accelerate the timescale 
previously agreed by the Council at a time when our Medium Term Financial Plan shows a 
significant deficit would have major consequences, including the likely closure of some 
services. Whilst the Notice of Motion sets out a welcome ambition, it is important that the 
targets set by the Council are evidence-based and challenging but also realistically 
achievable and therefore meaningful in terms creating public expectation, tracking our 
progress and being held to account in terms of its delivery.  

3.4 Work is already underway to look at whether and how the potential carbon 
emission impacts of decisions could be assessed and reflected in reports where relevant 
and material and progress will be reported to scrutiny in the autumn. 

3.5 For the reasons set out in the report the Lead Member is recommended to 
recommend to the County Council that the Notice of Motion be rejected. 
 
RUPERT CLUBB 
Director of Communities, Economy and Transport 
 
Contact Officers: Andy Arnold 
Tel. 01273 481606 
Email: andy.arnold@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 
 

Page 9

mailto:andy.arnold@eastsussex.gov.uk


Appendix 1 - East Sussex County Council’s Climate Emergency Plan 
 

 

East Sussex County Council’s 

Climate Emergency Plan 

Page 10



Contents  

 

Executive summary 3 

Introduction 5 

Structure of the report 5 

Terminology 6 

Setting a science-based carbon budget 6 

The scope of greenhouse gas emissions covered 7 

Measures taken by the Council so far 8 

The Council’s current greenhouse gas emissions 10 

Decarbonisation pathways 15 

Action plan for 2020-22 19 

Governance 20 

Monitoring and reporting 23 

Risk table 24 

Glossary 25 

Appendix A 26 

2 

Page 11



Executive summary 

In 2018 the UN’s Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change concluded that “rapid, 
far-reaching, and unprecedented changes in all aspects of society” are required to limit 
the average global temperature rise to 1.5oC above pre-industrial levels. In June 2019 
Parliament legislated for a commitment to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. 

To keep below the 1.5oC increase requires a limit to the total quantity of greenhouse 
gases released to the atmosphere. This is the global carbon budget, which can be 
divided into national and sub-national budgets. All emissions above this budget will 
contribute to exceeding the 1.5oC threshold. Following the methodology used by the 
UK’s Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, the total remaining carbon dioxide 
(CO2) budget for East Sussex is about 14 million tonnes. At current emission levels this 
budget will be exceeded in 7 years. To stay within this budget requires cutting emissions 
from East Sussex by an average of about 13% per year. 

There are three separate levels at which the County Council can act to reduce carbon 
emissions, as illustrated in figure 1 and described below: 

1) the County Council has direct control over emissions that are generated as a 
result of corporate activities, such as the use of gas and electricity in council 
buildings and business mileage. 

2) the County Council has influence over a range of local emissions as a result of 
its activities and its functions. For example, its role as Highways Authority 
enables it to influence some emissions from local transport. 

3) the County Council has the opportunity to try to influence national policy, for 
instance by working with partners to lobby for greater ambition at a national level 
and for more resources to be allocated to a local level to help reduce emissions. 

 

Figure 1. The County Council’s spheres of control and influence 

3 

Page 12



In recognition of these different levels of control and influence, the County Council: 

1) declared a climate emergency in October 2019 and committed to becoming 
carbon neutral from its own activities as soon as possible, and by 2050 at the 
latest. 

2) Has been working with partners to develop a county-wide Environment Strategy 
which includes a commitment to remain within a science-based carbon budget. 

This plan covers the County Council’s corporate carbon emissions. It sets out the scale 
of the carbon footprint, describes the carbon budget that the Council will aim to keep 
within, and proposes an initial 2 year delivery plan for 2020-22. 

Using the international Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the Council estimates that it is total 

emissions in 2018-19 were approximately 73,940 tonnes of CO2e, which is about 3% 

of total emissions from East Sussex. Significant reductions have been achieved over 

the last 10 years from the use of gas and electricity, through the national 

decarbonisation of the electricity grid, a reduction in the size of the corporate estate, 

and investment of more than £3m in energy efficiency measures that have generated 

annual savings of £770,000. However, procurement and schools are by far the largest 

part of the council’s CO2e emissions, over which the council has only limited control 

and influence. 

The County Council, in order to play its part in keeping within the remaining carbon 
budget for East Sussex, will aim to cut its corporate emissions by 13% per year. The 
previous corporate target was 3% per year, however a 15% reduction was achieved in 
2017-18 and 19% in 2018-19. 

Simple modelling of the actions that the council can take to reduce its emissions 
highlights that all possible measures need to be implemented, rapidly and at scale. It is 
likely that the 13% per year target will become increasingly difficult to achieve over time, 
once the simpler and more cost-effective measures have been implemented. In 
addition, in order to become carbon neutral, the Council will need to consider investing 
in off-setting emissions that it is not able to cut, for instance by investing in a mix of 
large-scale off-site renewables, land use sequestration and/or carbon removal 
technologies. 

An initial five year carbon reduction target is proposed, with annual milestones, which 
will enable progress towards net zero to be tracked closely. This is supported by an 
initial two year action and communications plan with clear outputs and lead officers. 
The action plan will be reviewed after the first year and adjusted in light of changing 
legislation, technology and levels of resources available. Progress against the plan will 
be overseen by a cross departmental senior officer board and reported to Cabinet and 
County Council every year. 

4 

Page 13



Introduction  

The 2018 report by the UN’s Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) states 
that we are already seeing the consequences of a 1oC of global warming through more 
extreme weather, rising sea levels and diminishing Artic sea ice, among other changes. 
It concluded that “rapid, far-reaching, and unprecedented changes in all aspects of 
society” will be required in order to limit a global temperature rise to 1.5oC above the 
pre-industrial level. Even half a degree above that will significantly worsen the risks of 
drought, floods, mass extinctions of animal species, and extreme heat and poverty for 
hundreds of millions of people. 

The predicted impacts of climate change in East Sussex include more frequent and 
intense flooding, drought and episodes of extreme heat, as well as impacts from the 
effects of climate change overseas, such as on food supply. This will lead to an 
increase in heat-related deaths, particularly amongst the elderly, damage to essential 
infrastructure, increased cost of food, disruption to supply chains and service 
provision, greater coastal erosion and impact on coastal habitats and wetlands. 

In response, many organisations have declared a climate emergency and in June 2019 
Parliament legislated for a commitment to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, 
with five-yearly carbon budgets to set actions and review progress. Currently, there is 
no legal requirement for the County Council either to mitigate or adapt to climate 
change. This is partly because the large scale interventions required to achieve rapid 
and far-reaching change are mostly driven by international and national financial and 
regulatory frameworks. Nevertheless, in October 2019 the County Council approved a 
motion to declare a climate emergency and committed to becoming carbon neutral from 
its activities as soon as possible and in any event by 2050. This plan sets out an 
evidence-based road map to identify the key actions and intervention measures 
required to set the Council on the path to becoming carbon neutral. 

Structure of the report 

This report follows the steps that are recognised as being needed to deliver a robust 

and credible carbon management framework. It: 

 Explains the terminology used in the report. 

 Sets out a science-based rate of carbon reduction that the County Council needs to 

achieve if it is to contribute to East Sussex remaining within its carbon budget. 

 Defines the scope of the County Council’s carbon emissions. 

 Measures the County Council’s current carbon emissions. 

 Describes the actions taken to date by the County Council to reduce its emissions. 

 Assesses the options to reduce carbon emissions. 

 Sets out an action plan for the next 2 years, to work towards the first 5 year carbon 

reduction target. 

5 

Page 14



Explains what governance structure, and the monitoring, evaluation and reporting 

processes, that will be put in place to ensure delivery of the action plan. 

Terminology  

There are six main greenhouse gases (GHGs) that contribute to global warming. Most 
of these gases arise from combustion of fossil fuels, and some originate from 
refrigeration, agriculture, chemical production and electrical applications. Each gas has 
its own global warming potential over a 100 year period (GWP). Carbon dioxide (CO2) 
has the lowest GWP of all the gases, but is by far the most abundant GHG gas, hence 
the focus on CO2 when discussing climate change. By comparing each gas’s GWP to 
that of CO2 we are able to derive a CO2 equivalent value (expressed as ‘CO2e’). For 
example, CO2 has a GWP of 1, methane has a GWP of 24, therefore we can say that 
1 tonne of methane emissions is equal to 24 tonnes of CO2 (expressed as ‘24 tCO2e’). 
This enables the total global warming potential of a range of greenhouse gases to be 
presented as a single figure, which simplifies analysis and reporting. In this report 
‘carbon’ is used interchangeably with ‘CO2e’. 

A tonne of CO2e is calculated by multiplying the amount of energy used, for instance in 
units of kWhs for gas or electricity or litres of fuel used in a vehicle, by the amount of 
carbon produced per unit, which is a standardised unit set by government to ensure 
consistency in reporting over time. 

The terms ‘carbon neutral’ and ‘net zero carbon’ are sometimes used inter-changeably 
and sometimes defined in different ways. For the purposes of this report they are 
considered to be inter-changeable. 

Setting a science-based carbon budget for ESCC  

The UN Paris Agreement on climate change commits the global community to take 
action to ‘hold the increase in global average temperature to well below 2oC above 
pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5oC’. 
Staying within a given temperature requires that only a certain total quantity of GHGs 
is released to the atmosphere. This is the global carbon budget, which can be divided 
into national and sub-national budgets. All emissions above this budget will contribute 
to exceeding the 1.5oC threshold. Therefore, the objective is for each area to reduce 
its emissions to net zero before its respective carbon budget is used up. 

The global budget can be divided down to national and sub-national levels in a number 
of different ways, each of which has different strengths and weaknesses. The UK’s 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research has developed a recognised methodology 
for calculating the carbon budget by local authority area, which helps to ensure that 
carbon budgets at different administrative levels (e.g. district/borough and county) are 
comparable and that all areas are contributing to a common UK carbon budget. The 
methodology makes a number of simplifying assumptions and only covers CO2 rather 
than all GHGs. 

The Tyndall model indicates the following key points for East Sussex: 

6 

Page 15



1) The total remaining CO2 budget (i.e. the total amount of CO2 emissions that can 
be emitted from East Sussex) is about 14 million tonnes; 

2) To stay within this budget requires cutting emissions by an average of about 
13% per year. 

These figures, based on current scientific understanding, help to specify by how much 
and how quickly an area needs to reduce CO2 emissions. The earlier and greater the 
reduction in emissions the more likely we are to contribute to remaining within the global 
carbon budget and, conversely, the later and slower the reduction in GHGs the more 
likely we are to contribute to exceeding the global carbon budget. 

The approach adopted by the County Council is that, in order to make its fair 
contribution to reducing county-wide emissions, it will aim to cut its own emissions by 
13% per year. This science-based approach to setting a carbon reduction target has 
been widely adopted, for instance by companies with a collective market valuation of 
over $13 trillion. 

The  scope of greenhouse gas emissions covered  

A climate change strategy requires a detailed understanding of an organisation’s GHG 
emissions, as it provides both the evidence to develop targeted interventions and the 
evidence of progress towards becoming carbon neutral. 

The Greenhouse Gas Protocol is the most widely used and accepted global standard 
for measuring and reporting on an organisation’s GHG emissions, and is used by more 
than 9 out of 10 Fortune 500 companies. The Protocol divides GHG emissions into 
three categories, referred to as Scope 1, 2 and 3. Together, these represent the total 
GHG emissions related to an organisation and its activities. Each scope covers the 
following emissions: 

Scope 1 – emissions from the combustion of gas, oil, petrol, diesel, coal, or wood. For 
the Council this covers buildings and vehicles where the Council is responsible for 
paying for the fuel. 

Scope 2 – emissions from the electricity purchased by the Council. 

Scope 3 – emissions that result from all other activities of the Council. There are 15 
different scope 3 categories defined in the Protocol, some of which do not apply to a 
local authority (e.g. emissions from manufactured goods). The categories that do apply 
include emissions from business travel, water usage, waste, procurement and staff 
commuting. In other words, the County Council’s scope 3 emissions mostly comprise 
the scope 1 and 2 emissions of other organisations (e.g. contractors). 

The corporate standard of the Protocol allows organisations flexibility in choosing 
which, if any, scope 3 activities to include in the GHG inventory, as long as exclusions 
are disclosed and justified. This is because it is recognised that organisations only 
have influence but not control over scope 3 emissions, and emissions from suppliers 
can be complex to apportion to a particular contract. In addition, the time and cost to 
collate data that may be of unknown quality would not be warranted. 

7 

Page 16



Measures taken by the Council so far 

In 2009-10 ESCC set a target to reduce its carbon emissions by 3% per year, which 
was in line with the previous national target of an 80% reduction between 1990 and 
2050. The Council developed a carbon management plan in 2009, which was updated 
in 2016. This plan is the next update of the carbon management plan. 

ESCC’s CO2e emissions have been reduced by 56% between 2008-9 and 2018-19, 
as shown in figure 1. This is due to a combination of factors, including national 
decarbonisation of the electricity grid as coal has been largely replaced by gas and 
renewables, by investment in a number of measures that have reduced emissions, and 
by a reduction in the size of the corporate estate (e.g. through the conversion of a 
number of schools to Academy status). 

 

Figure 1. ESCC’s CO2e emissions from 2008-9 to 2018-19. 

The main measures that the Council has invested in that have reduced emission are: 

1. Changes to the way we work, for example through the Agile and SPACES 
programmes, which enable a reduction in travel through staff being able to 
be connected whilst working remotely and enable a more efficient use of the 
organisation’s buildings. 

2. Improved and more energy efficient connectivity, for instance through server 
virtualisation. 

3. Encouraging behaviour change, for example by providing the ICT equipment, tools 
and support to enable Members and staff to work digitally and providing discounted 
bus travel and season-ticket loans to encourage the use of public transport. 

8 

Page 17



0. Installing a number of energy efficiency measures in ESCC buildings and street 
lighting through the £1.025m Salix invest-to-save fund. To date, Salix has funded 
nearly 200 projects worth £3m, generating annual savings of £770,000. Figure 2 
summaries the schemes that have been delivered. 

1. Installing 1.5MW of renewable energy generation on buildings. This is an 
underestimate because a number of schools have entered agreements with 3rd 

parties and so the Council does not have access to the data. 

2. Requiring energy efficiency improvements in key contracts, for example including 
performance indicators for street lighting and business mileage within the current 
highways contract. 

3. Changing our approach to procurement to enable more goods and services to be 
delivered by local businesses, which reduces the transport impact of our supply 
chain. 

 

Figure 2. Salix projects, by type and spend, between 2008-19. 

The Council has recently procured a new framework for the provision of electricity for 

corporate buildings, schools and street lighting. This allows electricity to be supplied 

from renewable sources, independently certified through the Renewable Energy 

9 

Page 18



Guarantees of Origin scheme (REGOs). This will start from 1 April 2020 for an initial 

period of at least 12 months and is likely to continue indefinitely, subject to availability 

and price. 

Government guidance offers two different ways for public sector bodies to report the 

emissions from the electricity they procure, using either a ‘location based’ or ‘market 

based’ approach. 

The location-based approach uses the average carbon emission intensity of the 

national grid. Using this method means that buying green electricity is not ‘counted’ 

towards meeting a carbon reduction target. 

The market-based approach involves using an emissions factor that is specific to the 

electricity supply that is purchased. Using this approach means that, when green 

electricity is procured in line with the REGO scheme, it can be counted towards meeting 

a carbon reduction target. If this approach is used then, to avoid double counting, it 

reduces the amount of green electricity that is available to others through the national 

grid. In other words, the council’s electricity supply may be green but the supply to all 

other customers will be a little less green. 

The Council has decided to adopt a location-based approach, on the basis that it is good 

practice to work to reduce energy usage first, followed by improving energy efficiency, 

then investing in renewable energy, and finally to procure green electricity. 

The County Council’s current GHG emissions 

The objective is to achieve sufficiently accurate data to enable decision-makers to be 
confident in the integrity of the information. The County Council has measured scope 
1, 2 and some scope 3 emissions since 2008-9, initially to comply with the requirement 
to report against government indicator NI 185, then to comply with the statutory Carbon 
Reduction Commitment, and more recently in order to be able to report on progress 
against the previous corporate commitment to reduce GHG emissions by 3% per year. 
Annual progress reports have been published on the County Council’s website here: 
(https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing) 

The Council’s GHG footprint set out in this report represents a thorough but practical 

effort to obtain as complete a picture as possible. It is compiled from a number of data 

sources, which are summarised in table 1. Some of the data are of high quality, notably 

for scope 1 and 2 emissions, as over 90% of sites have automatic meter readers 

installed which provide accurate data on gas and electricity usage in buildings. Other 

data, notably some of the scope 3 categories, are of varying detail and quality. A more 

detailed explanation of the scope 3 figures shown in table 1 that the Council has not 

reported on previously is provided in appendix A. 

10 

Page 19

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing


Emissions vary over time due to a variety of factors, such as changes in the weather 

(which can affect the amount of heating used), changes to the County Council’s 

buildings portfolio (e.g. Academy conversions have seen our school portfolio reduce), 

the number of staff travelling for business and user behaviour. Therefore, the GHG 

footprint should be understood as being a reasonable estimate rather than a precise 

picture, and some parts of the footprint, notably the supply chain, may increase or 

decrease significantly as data quality improves over time. There are also emissions 

related to the Council’s operations that are not possible to estimate with any 

reasonable degree of accuracy and so have not been included, for instance domestic 

heating and lighting used by staff and Members when working from home. 

In order to allow meaningful year-on-year comparisons, our policy is to recalculate 
base year emissions and previous year emissions where structural changes lead to an 
increase or decrease in corporate emissions of 5% or more, for instance due to 
Academy conversions. The last time the baseline was re-calculated was in 2014-15. 

Figure 3, below, illustrates the split in Council emissions by scope. This highlights, in 

particular, the importance of needing to address emissions from the supply chain, 

which is estimated to be about three quarters of the Council’s total emissions. 

Figure 4, below, illustrates the split in the total scope 1 and 2 emissions by service 

area. Scope 3 emissions are not included because it is too complex to split all 

emissions by service area. This figure highlights the importance of engaging with 

schools, which have devolved budgets for most measures that can reduce emissions. 

11 

 

 

Emissions by scope (tCO2e) 

82% 

8% 

10% 

Scope 1  

Scope 2  

Scope 3 

Page 20



 

 

 

Scope 1 and 2: GHG emissions by service 
Adult Social Care 

Business Services Dept 

Childrens Services 

<1% <1% <1% 

9% 

Communities, Economy & 
Transport 
Governance & Community Services 

18% 

9% 

Joint Use 

Schools Street 

Lighting Public 

Health 

Members Chief 

Executive's 

10% 

1.5% 

2% 

1% 

49% 

Figure 5, below, illustrates the split between emissions from gas, electricity and 

transport in scope 1 and 2, which highlights that the Council’s own buildings should be 

the priority area to focus on. However, table 1 indicates that, when scope 3 emissions 

are included, business mileage and staff commuting generate a similar scale of 

emissions as gas used in buildings, so transport also needs to be an area of focus. 

Scope 1 & 2: emissions by type of fossil fuel (CO2e) 

1% 

Electricity  

Gas 

Transport (diesel 
& petrol) 

41% 

58% 

12 

Page 21



Table 1. Summary of Council emissions 

Scope What’s covered Emissions (tCO2e) Source of the data Key exclusions & uncertainty 

Scope 1 

Gas consumption for heating and 
hot water in buildings 

4,664 Based on metered gas bills that ESCC 
pays, including schools 

Excludes schools that does not buy in to the 
energy supply service. 

Oil & propane for heating & hot 
water in buildings 

897 Based on oil and propane that ESCC 
pays, including schools 

Excludes schools that does not buy in to the 
energy supply service. 

ESCC owned transport 139 Based on fuel usage and vehicle type   

Scope 2 

Electricity usage in buildings 5,115 Based on metered electricity bills that 
ESCC pays, including schools 

Excludes schools that does not buy in to the 
energy supply service. 

Electricity usage in street 
lighting 

2,645 Unmetered supply so usage is 
estimated by inventory and usage  
pattern 

  

Scope 3 

Transmission & distribution 661 Losses associated with electricity 
purchased under scope 2 

Excludes schools that does not buy in to the 
energy supply service. 

Business travel 1,628 Based on the fuel type, distance 
travelled and engine size of private cars 
used for business travel 

Excludes public transport, flights, cycling, 
taxis, rental cars and overnight  
accommodation. 

Employee commuting 3,120 Based on distance from home to work, 
days worked per year, and ONS data on 
commuting by car in East Sussex 

Excludes the use of public transport and 
school staff, simplifies days worked & uses 
average emission factor. 

Waste disposal 115 Based on waste, recycling and 
composting tonnage figures 

Excludes emissions from waste transport 
and sites that have not joined the contract 

Water usage 68 Based on metered water usage Excludes unmetered sites (12.5% of the 136 
corporate sites) 

Supply chain 54,888 List of current contracts and use of spend 

as a proxy value for carbon (tCO2/m£) 

Financial value is a weak proxy for 
emissions. Excludes procurement by  
schools & from framework contracts. 

  Total emissions: 73,940     
 

13 

P
age 22



 

 

 

 

Figure 6, below, provides a breakdown of the building-specific emissions shown in 

figure 5, by service area. This again highlights the importance of needing to engage 

with, and persuade, schools to invest in energy reduction and efficiency measures, 

and renewables. 

Figure 7, below, provides a summary of the financial costs associated with all scope 
1 and 2 emissions in 2018-19. This indicates that electricity is about three quarters of 
the total cost. 

Scope 1 & 2: building emissions by service 

55% 

(CO2e) 

5% 

10% 

5% 
<1% 

3% 

1% 

Adult Social Care 

Joint Use 

Governance & 
Community Services 

Schools 

Business Service Dept 

Childrens Services 

Communities, 
Economy & Transport 

Cost of scope 1 & 2 emisions: £4.77m 
ESCC gas 

3% 5% ESCC electricity 

ESCC owned transport 

Street lighting 

Schools gas 

Schools electricity 

Schools oil, propane 
& kerosene 

17% 

32% 

3% 

28% 
12% 

14 

Page 23



The key points to draw from table 1 and figures 3-7 are that: 

1) The total estimated emissions from the Council’s scope 1-3 are about 3% of the 

total GHG emissions from East Sussex. 

2) Scope 3 emissions are by far the largest part of the Council’s carbon footprint, 

notably through the supply chain, but the Council only has influence rather than direct 

control over these emissions. 

3) The largest part of scope 1 and 2 emissions is from schools, again over which the 

Council has influence, but limited direct control. 

4) Further work is required to quantify some key scope 3 emissions before they can 
be integrated reliably into the Council’s carbon footprint and modelled for future 
emission reductions, notably from procurement. 

Decarbonisation pathways 

The carbon budget set out above indicates that the County Council needs to cut its 
emissions by about 13% per year. The following section sets out how this might begin 
to be achieved. It assumes that in the ‘business as usual (BAU)’ scenario there are no 
further change in emissions from the baseline. In practice this is unlikely, for instance 
due to changes in service provision or building assets. It also uses the same simplifying 
assumptions about the effect of government policy and wider technological trends that 
have been made in other local authority climate emergency plans, for example on the 
rate of decarbonisation of the electricity grid, to ensure consistency between plans. 
These assumptions may prove to be very inaccurate over time, for instance as new 
technologies are developed at scale, which may fundamentally alter the scenarios 
outlined below. Finally, it is assumed that the measures are all delivered gradually over 
the next 30 years, whereas in practice some measures could be delivered in a shorter 
time frame, for instance improving the energy efficiency of street lighting. 

This section focuses on the following areas: 
1) Decarbonisation of the national electricity grid. 
2) Emissions from buildings. 
3) Emissions from street lighting. 
4) Emissions from transport. 
5) Scope 3 emissions. 
6) Renewables. 
7) The use of off-setting. 

Figure 8 (on page 18) provides a visual summary of the combined effect of the 
measures outlined below on total scope 1 and 2 emissions. Ways to reduce scope 3 
emissions are discussed below but are not included in figure 8 due to the current high 
degree of uncertainty associated with the data and, consequently, the lack of accuracy 
when modelling future reductions. 

A useful means to consider which emission measures to prioritise is the energy 
hierarchy, with the most effective option being to use less energy in the first place, and 
working down the hierarchy shown in figure 9. 

15 

Page 24



 

Figure 9. The energy hierarchy.  

Decarbonisation of the grid  

The greenhouse gas intensity of grid electricity has decreased significantly over the 
last decade or so as coal has increasingly been replaced by gas and renewables. 
Government predicts that its policies will continue to drive this down. The practical 
consequence is that much of the reduction in GHG emissions achieved by the County 
Council over the last 10 years has been due to the decarbonisation of the grid, and 
further grid decarbonisation may deliver another 38% reduction in the Council’s total 
scope 1 and 2 carbon footprint between 2020-50 without any further action by the 
Council. However, if the rate of decarbonisation predicted by government does not 
occur then the Council will have to find a way to fill this shortfall by other means. This 
adds to the uncertainty in trying to forecast the Council’s likely future GHG emissions. 

The rate of decarbonisation of the grid also has significant and complex knock-on 
effects on other types of measures to reduce emissions, notably changing from gas to 
electric heating and moving to electric vehicles. 

Emissions from buildings 

For the sake of simplicity it is been assumed that the ‘business as usual’ scenario 
would mean that there will be no change in the Council’s building portfolio and 
emissions from buildings would remain constant. In practice, this is likely to vary 
considerably, for instance as sites are either disposed of, acquired or modified. The 
emerging Property Strategy will be used to inform future updates to this action plan. 

The main measures that can be implemented to reduce emissions from buildings are 
reducing energy demand, for instance through behavioural change programmes such 
as switch off campaigns, improving the fabric of buildings (e.g. insulation), improving 
the energy efficiency of equipment such as lighting and ICT, and reducing energy 
intensity by switching from gas to electricity (or hydrogen) as the grid decarbonises. 
A rough estimate as to the potential energy improvements that each option could bring 
as an average across the building stock are as follows: 

1) Behaviour change and energy efficiency measures – a total 20% reduction in 
electricity usage and 10% reduction in gas usage, based on data from the non-
domestic National Energy Efficiency Data Framework. 

16 

Page 25



2) Switching from gas to electricity – a total 15% reduction compared with current gas 
usage, based on typical estimates of the efficiencies of gas boilers (80%) compared 
with switching, for instance, to heat pumps (250%). This assumes that some 
conversions will not be possible, for instance due to the type of building. 
3) Carbon neutral new build – this will be necessary in order to avoid increasing the 
Council’s carbon footprint. Ideally, new build would be carbon negative (i.e.. by 
generating more renewable energy than they consume). 

These measures are shown in figure 8 as cumulative changes that take place in a 
consistent linear manner between now and 2050, as the latest date by which the 
Council will aim to become carbon neutral. In practice, there is a complex interaction 
between these measures, which means that there is considerable uncertainty as to 
what savings might be delivered and when. For instance, improving building fabric is 
an essential prerequisite to being able to switch from gas to heat pumps in some 
properties, and demand reduction helps to improve the business case for investing in 
low carbon heating systems, the effectiveness of which depends on the 
decarbonisation of the grid. 

Emissions from street lighting  

Emissions can be reduced by cutting the amount of lighting used, for instance by 
switching off or dimming more street lighting assets in the middle of the night, and by 
installing more energy efficient lighting. It is assumed that these measures could 
deliver a 40% reduction in electricity usage, based on being able to achieve about a 
30% reduction from installing LEDs alone. The effect of this is illustrated in figure 8. 

Emissions from transport 

A reduction in emissions can be achieved by further roll-out of flexible work patterns 
such as the existing Agile programme, encouraging changes in travel modes to more 
walking, cycling and use of public transport, by driver training programmes, and by 
changing non-HGV vehicles from petrol and diesel to electric. It is assumed that these 
measures, in combination, could deliver a 75% reduction in emissions from current 
mileage, based mostly on replacing the majority of the fleet with electric vehicles (there 
are no HGVs), without impacting on service delivery. 

The cumulative reduction in emissions that might be achieved by all the measures 
outlined above is shown in figure 8. This highlights that the measures appear to fall far 
short of meeting the 13% per year reduction target, which is designed to help keep 
within the county’s carbon budget recommended by the Tyndall Centre. In addition, it 
is worth noting that figure 8 does not include the emissions from scope 3 emissions, 
which are significantly greater than the combined scope 1 and 2 emissions. However, 
in practice it is likely that greater carbon reductions can be achieved more quickly and 
more deeply in the next few years than shown by the modelling, as indicated by the 
actual reductions that have been achieved in recent years (10% in 2016-17, 15% in 
2017-18 and 19% in 2018-19). 

17 

Page 26



 

Tyndall reduction target & the modelled effect of all measures from 2020-2050 

 

16000 14000 

12000 10000 

   

 

Business as usual 

Owned transport 

plus buildings  
gas 

plus buildings 
electricity 

plus street  
lighting 

plus grid 
decarbonisation 

Tyndall 13% p.a. 
target 

tCO2e 
 

8 0 0 0  6 0 0 0  

4 0 0 0  2 0 0 0  

 
0 

 

20
20

 

20
22

 

20
24

 

20
26

 

20
28

 

20
30

 

20
32

 

20
34

 

20
36

 

20
38

 

20
40

 

20
42

 

20
44

 

20
46

 

20
48

 

20
50

  

Y e a r  

Figure 8. The potential cumulative effect of all measures.  

Scope 3 emissions 

The measures outlined for scope 3 emissions in the following section are not illustrated 
in figure 8 due to the high degree of uncertainty with the estimates used to calculate 
these emissions and how far they can be reduced, and the much lower level of control 
and influence that the Council has over these emissions. However, the measures 
below will be taken up in the climate emergency action plan (see pages 21-22). 

Water: case study evidence suggests that installing a range of water efficiency 
measures, such as low flush toilets and flow restrictors in taps, can potentially reduce 
water use by about 20% (AECOM, 2019). 

Waste: evidence from the national Waste and Resources Action Programme suggests 
that emission reductions of about 10% are possible as a result of interventions to 
reduce the amount of waste produced and to compost food waste. 

Supply chain: table 1 clearly shows that the largest part of scope 3 emissions is likely 
to be as a result of what ESCC procures. This is typical for a local authority, as most of 
the Council’s revenue and capital budgets are used to procure goods, services and 
works from 3rd parties. The council can influence contractual emissions by 

18 

Page 27



requiring GHG reduction targets when renewing relevant contracts, where appropriate. 
This approach has been adopted, for instance, in the current highways contract. 
However, there will be a number of contractors and suppliers who will not have data 
on their emissions or will have relatively small-scale emissions. Consequently, the 
Council will focus on contractors and suppliers where the likely scale of their emissions 
and the ability of the Council to influence these emissions are greatest, for instance 
where the Council is a major client. 

Renewables  

Installing renewable energy supports the decarbonisation of the grid, which in turn 
supports the switch in buildings and vehicles away from fossil fuels to electricity, and 
contributes to ensuring security of supply and protecting consumers from rising 
electricity prices. The scale of possible generation opportunities on Council buildings 
and land is currently unknown, and so quantifying this is an important task set out in 
the action plan. 

Off-setting   

It is widely recognised that emissions should be reduced as much as possible before 
any residual emissions are compensated for by using off-setting. Due to the significant 
level of uncertainty as to the cumulative effect of the measures outlined above it is 
difficult to predict at this stage what scale of offsetting might be required. 
Nevertheless, it is clear from figure 8 that, even if all the measures to reduce 
emissions are implemented and are successful, it is highly likely that there will be a 
need to offset remaining emissions in order to reach carbon neutrality. This could be 
by investing in a mix of large-scale off-site renewables, land use sequestration and/or 
carbon removal technologies. Off-site renewables are the most straightforward and 
measurable method. Land use sequestration is being explored with the Sussex Local 
Nature Partnership, as there is the opportunity to invest in local natural capital which 
might bring economic benefits, whilst carbon removal technologies are at a very early 
stage of development and there is insufficient evidence to provide a realistic estimate 
of their potential contribution at this stage. 

Action plan for 2020-22  

Figure 8 shows that decarbonisation relies on adopting all possible CO2e reduction 
measures, doing so rapidly and doing so at scale, and investing in carbon off-setting. 

A CO2e budget for the next 5 years is set out in table 2 below, with annual milestones, 
as the first step towards becoming carbon neutral. The table shows: 

1. the annual reduction in CO2e required to achieve a 13% reduction per year; 

2. the annual change in the scope 1 and 2 footprint that this rate of reduction would 
deliver. 

19 

Page 28



Table 2. ESCC carbon budget for 2020-25. 

 

Year 13% p.a. reduction target (CO2e) Scope 1 & 2 footprint (CO2e) 

2020-21 1,750 11,710 

2021-22 1,522 10,188 

2022-23 1,324 8,863 

2023-24 1,152 7,711 

2024-25 1,002 6,709 

Totals: 6,750 n/a 
 

In recognition of the scale of the challenge, the County Council has created a new post 

of Climate Change Senior Technical Officer, which is currently being recruiting to. If it 

becomes clear that moving from the current annual carbon reduction target of 3% to 

13% per year requires further new resources, then this will be addressed through the 

annual Reconciling Policy and Performance process. 

Table 3, below, sets out an action plan for 2020-22, which will aim to meet the annual 

carbon budget targets set out in table 2 for the next 2 years by means of a structured 

programme with clear roles and responsibilities. The oversight of this programme is set 

out in the following sections on governance and monitoring, and the risks are assessed 

on page 24. 

Governance  

The Council is setting up a robust structure of roles, responsibilities and accountability 

for delivering the climate emergency plan. This includes: 

1) Recruiting to a new post of Climate Change Senior Technical Officer. 

2) Setting up a senior Officer climate emergency Board to oversee the delivery of 

the action plan. 

3) Carrying out a Scrutiny review of the Council’s programme of work to address 

the climate emergency. 

4) Reporting annually to Cabinet and County Council on progress against the 

carbon budget and commitment to becoming carbon neutral. 

20 

Page 29



Table 3. Action plan for 2020-22 

Action Description of action GHG reduction Lead & resources 

Framework (governance, leadership, communications, data, policy & partnership working): 

Set up robust governance Establish a senior Officer board to oversee delivery of this plan. n/a CET Director. £0. 

Develop a communications plan Set out clear messages and comms routes, Member and staff 
engagement, & integrate public engagement via the Environment Strategy 

n/a Corporate Comms team. 
£tbc. 

Improve GHG baseline data 1) Update ESCC’s GHG data management plan and improve transparency 
by explaining the methods, data, processes, assumptions, estimates,  
changes and quality checks used. 

2) Obtain more accurate GHG data for staff commuting, priority suppliers 
and renewables already installed at schools (see below). 

n/a New Climate Officer. 
£0. 

Review ESCC’s policies, strategies, 
programmes, projects and practice to 
align with the climate emergency 

Policy should provide clear and stable direction and a simple set of rules that 
supports corporate climate change mitigation and adaptation 

Tbc New Climate Officer. 
£0. 

Work in partnership with other 
organisations to share resources & 
good practice 

1) Continue to work with all Sussex local authorities on developing  
organisational and area-wide carbon plans. 
2) Work with SE7 partners on the same. 

n/a  

n/a 

New Climate Officer. 
£0. 
New Climate Officer. £0. 

Produce an annual progress report Report to County Council on progress and identify additional resources that 
may be required 

n/a New Climate Officer. 
£0. 

Emissions from buildings:     
Behaviour change programme – 
corporate 

Develop an engagement plan to create an energy-aware culture amongst 
staff and Members & develop a network of climate emergency champions to 
accelerate change 

Low Energy Manager.  
£tbc. 

Behaviour change programme - 
schools 

Update & disseminate the energy saving guide for schools. Low Energy Manager.  
£tbc. 

Planned Maintenance & Capital 
programmes 

1) Establish a robust process for identifying, prioritising and delivering 
projects. 
2) Prepare an annual programme of energy efficiency projects linked to the 
maintenance and capital programmes. 
3) deliver a pipeline of whole-building energy efficiency projects. 

High 1) Energy Manager.  
£0. 
2) Energy Manager. £0. 
3)Energy Manager. Salix 
invest to save fund. 

Install low carbon heating in buildings to 
replace gas boilers 

Review boiler replacement programme and assess options for replacing with 
heat pumps 

Tbc Energy Manager.  
£tbc. 

New build Ensure the 2008 ESCC sustainable buildings policy is being implemented and 
report on its effectiveness 

Tbc Lead? Funded within 
project budgets.  

21 

P
age 30



Action Description of action GHG reduction Lead & resources 

Emissions from street lighting:     
Improve energy efficiency –street 
lighting 

1) Install energy efficient LED lights. 
2) review dimming and switch-off policy. 

High Highways Service  
Delivery Manager. 
£5m from Salix SEELS. 

Emissions from transport, including commuting:     
Grey fleet review Commission review by the Energy Savings Trust. Tbc New Climate Officer. £0. 

Develop and implement a staff travel 
plan 

To cover both business mileage and commuting. tbc Corporate Property.  
£tbc. 

Install EV charge points Identify where to locate which types & number of chargers, and delivery 
mechanism, for staff & visitor use 

Low New Climate Officer. 
£tbc. 

Emissions from water & waste:     
Reduce waste 1) Consider requiring all sites to sign up to the same waste contract. 

2) Set up food waste collections from all kitchen areas. 
Low Senior Officer group.£0. 

Contract Manager. £tbc. 

Reduce water usage Install water efficient fittings in all appropriate toilets, urinals, taps & 
showers 

Low Energy Manager. £tbc. 

Emissions from procurement:     
Engage priority suppliers 1) obtain scope 1 & 2 GHG footprints of transport & construction contracts 

above >£1m p.a. 
2) embed low carbon outcomes into new contracts. 

n/a  

Tbc 

New Climate Officer. £0. 

New Climate Officer. 

Offer practical support to all other 
suppliers 

Provide energy audits and grants to local SMEs in the supply chain (e.g. via 
LoCASE) and eco-driver training for transport providers 

Medium Environment Manager. 
£0. 

Renewables:       
Improve data on school installs Obtain data on renewables installed at schools n/a Energy Manager. £tbc. 

Identify opportunities to install PV and 
other renewables on buildings & land 

Commission viability assessment of renewables on buildings & land Tbc Energy Manager. £tbc. 

Off-setting:       
Explore carbon off-setting Work with the Sussex Local Nature Partnership to explore options and costs 

for off-setting with natural capital benefits 
tbc Environment Manager. 

£0 

Grid flexibility:       
Assist integration of low carbon 
technologies into the national grid 

Review ESCC estate for opportunities to provide Grid Flexibility services such 
as Demand Side Response and Battery Storage 

n/a Energy Manager. £tbc. 

 

22 

P
age 31



Monitoring & reporting 

The Council already has a system in place to collate and analyse data for scope 1 and 
2 emissions and some scope 3 emissions. The action plan above includes an objective 
to ensure more robust data, notably for key scope 3 emissions, and to capture a more 
complete figure for generation from renewables. The key metric to measure progress 
will continue to be tonnes of CO2e by scope, though this data will be disaggregated to 
help identify key areas to focus on and to capture the anticipated reduction in 
emissions from individual projects. Monitoring and reporting will continue to be led by 
the Orbis Energy team. 

23 

Page 32



Risk table 

Area of Risk Definition 

Probability of  
occurrence 

Score 

Degree of  
Impact 

Score 

Risk Result 

Total Score (probability 
x impact) 

Mitigation measures 

Add to GHG footprint through 
business as usual 

Fail to change key 
policy and practices 

3 3 9 
Begin policy & practice review 
asap 

Off-setting opportunities  
aren’t available at scale 

Residual GHG 
emissions remain 

3 3 9 

Work collaboratively with partners 
(e.g. the Local Nature 
Partnership) to develop off-setting 

Statutory change 
Legal requirement to 
cut GHG emissions 

2 3 6 Develop an action plan 

Technology change 
Invest in incorrect or 
costly technology 

3 2 6 
Carry out research & test 
scenarios prior to investment 

Reduction in resources / 
increase in costs 

Unable to deliver the 
action plan 

2 3 6 Stress test the action plan 

Grid decarbonisation does not 
occur 

Higher rate of local 
decarbonisation 
needed 

2 3 6 
Track actual decarbonisation & 
national policy changes 

Lack of skilled providers to 
deliver mitigation measures 

Competition for 
skilled labour 

2 2 4 
Test the market & work with Skills 
East Sussex 

Decarbonisation impacts on 
service delivery 

Service users not 
supported 1 3 3 

Senior officer board to review all 
actions for service impacts 

A % of staff and schools are 
unwilling to play their part 

Fail to win hearts & 
minds 

1 2 2 

Design engagement & 
behavioural work with a staff & 
school peer group 

Adaptation measures become 

more urgent 

Focus needs to 

change 
1 2 2 

Address adaptation in parallel 
with climate change mitigation 
measures  

24 

P
age 33



Glossary  

 

Acronym   

ASC Adult Social Care 

BAU Business-as-usual 
BSD Business Services Department 

CS Children’s Services 

CET Communities, Economy & Transport 

GHG Greenhouse gas 
G&CS Community Services 

GWP Greenhouse warming potential 

CO2 Carbon dioxide 

CO2e Carbon dioxide equivalent 

REGOs Renewable Energy Guarantees Origin 

25 

Page 34



Appendix A - How scope 3 emissions have been calculated  

Supply chain  

The Council currently has over 500 active contracts in place, which are listed here: 

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/search/search.aspx?q=active+contracts+list.  

It is impractical to try to capture the carbon emissions from this number of contractors, 

therefore emissions from procurement have been calculated in 2 ways: 

1) step 1: annual emission data is already required from our waste and highways 

contractors, which are the 2 largest Council contracts by financial value. 

Therefore, actual emission data has been used from these contracts (608 

tonnes in 2018-19 from the highways contract and (tbc) tonnes from the waste 

contract). These contracts have then been removed from step 2. 

2) Step 2: the total annual cost of all the remaining contracts of £50,000 or above 
has been estimated by dividing the total value of each contract by the contract 
duration, and this has been multiplied by a GHG intensity figure of 230 tonnes 
of CO2e/£ million spent, which has been obtained from the Office for National 
Statistics. 

(see: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/greenhous  
egasintensityprovisionalestimatesuk/2018provisionalestimates).  
GHG intensity for the UK has reduced by two-thirds between 1990 and 2018, largely 
due to grid decarbonisation and improved energy efficiency. 

Using this approach is simple and quick but has the disadvantage of making crude 
assumptions about the correlation between cost and carbon emissions. The 
consequence is that it can be difficult to then demonstrate the results of actions to 
reduce emissions. 

Waste contract = tbc tCO2e 

Highways contract = 608 tCO2e 

 All remaining contracts above £50K = £236m x 230 = 54,280 tCO2e 

Total = 54,888 tCO2e 

Waste  

ESCC entered a new waste contract, which started in April 2019. Monthly data from 
the new contractor has been used to estimate the likely annual total tonnage, by 
disposal method, as summarised in table 4 below. The tonnage figures are multiplied 
by the appropriate emission factor, obtained from BEIS 
(see:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-
conversion-factors-2019). 

This is an incomplete picture due to: 

- not all Council properties are within the contract; 
- the figures include waste from 3rd parties (e.g. some private schools); 

26 

Page 35

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/search/search.aspx?q=active+contracts+list
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/search/search.aspx?q=active+contracts+list
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/greenhousegasintensityprovisionalestimatesuk/2018provisionalestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/greenhousegasintensityprovisionalestimatesuk/2018provisionalestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/greenhousegasintensityprovisionalestimatesuk/2018provisionalestimates
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019


- some waste streams are not included because they are managed by other contractors 
(e.g. confidential and sanitary waste). 

Table 4 
Waste treatment Tonnes p.a. Proportion (%) Emission factor (kg 

CO2e/tonne) 
CO2e 

Landfill 33 1 99.7729 3 

Incineration with energy 
recovery 

4107 78 21.3842 88 

Recycled 1116 21 21.3842 24 

composted 0 0 10.2586 0 

      Total: 115 tCO2e  

Commuting   

A database has been compiled of the straight-line distance that 2,332 of 4,479 staff live from 
their main work base and the number of hours they work. Emissions from commuting by 
this cohort have been estimated by: 
- grouping ‘hours worked’ by staff into those that need to travel 1, 2, 3, 4 or 5 days 
per week, and applying a pro rata of 221 working days per year to each group; 
- applying an average uplift of 1.2 to the miles from home to work to account for the increase 
in distance above a straight line journey, based on measuring a sample of actual journeys; 
- reducing the total distance travelled by 10% to try to account for the average effect of agile 
working and sickness. 
- An average figure for distance travelled per member of staff for whom we have data has 
been applied to those staff for whom the data are not yet available (i.e. 2,147 of the total 
4,479), to provide a more complete picture of the likely distance travelled by staff. 
- The ONS figure for the average commuting patterns in East Sussex has then been used 
to calculate the percentage of commuting that is likely to be completed by car or van (76%). 
- an emission factor for an ‘average car’ (0.28502 kg CO2e/mile) has been applied 
to the total mileage figure, obtained from BEIS 
- (see:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-

conversion-factors-2019).  
 
Water  

The Orbis property team manage water bills and collate data for all metered sites. A BEIS 

emission factor is then applied to water supply and wastewater, as show in table 5 below. 

Of the 136 corporate water supplies that are billed, 17 are unmetered (12.5%) and are 

excluded from the figures below. 

Input/output Volume (m3) Average emission factor (kg CO2e/m3) tCO2e 

Water supply 66,210 0.344 23 

Water treatment (95% 
of supply) 

62,900 0.708 45 

    Total: 68 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019


 

 

Appendix 2 - Climate Change: What ESCC has achieved so far and next steps 

Political commitments 

1) October 2019 – ESCC declared a climate change emergency. 

2) June 2020 – approved a corporate Climate Emergency Action Plan for 2020-22. 

3) January 2021 – completed a Scrutiny review of ESCC’s internal climate work. 

 

What ESCC has achieved so far 
 
Between 2008-9 and 2020-21 the County Council has reduced its scope 1 and 2 emissions 
by 66%.  This has been achieved through a number of measures, including:  
 
1. Changes to the way we work, for example through the Agile and SPACES 
programmes.  The Agile programme has enabled staff to work flexibly from a range of sites, 
including home, and so enable a reduced number, and more efficient use of, buildings which 
enable a reduction in travel through staff being able to be connected whilst working remotely, 
and enable a more efficient use of the organisation’s buildings. The SPACES programme 
(“Strategic Property Asset Collaboration in East Sussex”) is a partnership of public bodies and 
third sector organisations established in 2013 to seek better use of the public sector estate.  
 
2. Improved and more energy efficient connectivity, for instance through moving to the move 
to the Surrey Data Centre.  
 
3. Encouraging behaviour change, for example by providing the ICT equipment, tools and 
support to enable Members and staff to work digitally, and providing discounted bus travel and 
season-ticket loans to encourage the use of public transport.  
 
4. Installing a number of energy efficiency measures in ESCC buildings and street lighting 
through the £1.025m Salix invest-to-save fund and County Council maintenance budgets, 
including replacing all the windows at County Hall (see the images below). Salix has funded 
nearly 200 projects worth £3m, generating annual savings of £770,000.   
 
5. Installing 1.4MW of renewable energy generation on buildings, mostly on schools.  
 
6. Requiring energy efficiency improvements in key contracts, for example including 
performance indicators for street lighting and business mileage within the current highways 
contract.  
 
7. Changing our approach to procurement to enable more goods and services to be delivered 
by local businesses, which reduces the transport impact of our supply chain.  
 
8. The Council has recently procured a new framework for the provision of electricity for 
corporate buildings, schools and street lighting. This allows electricity to be supplied from 
renewable sources, independently certified through the Renewable Energy Guarantees of 
Origin scheme (REGOs). This started from 1 April 2020 for an initial period of at least 12 
months and is likely to continue, subject to availability and price.  This applies to corporate 
sites and has been offered to schools. 
 
Next steps  

 

1. Complete delivery of the £480K of government-funded energy efficiency projects in 2022. 

 

2. Deliver a range of energy efficiency projects, for example LED lighting schemes. 

Page 37



 

 

 

3. Develop a robust pipeline of projects to support bids for more external funding. 

 

4. Model the options and costs to get to net zero. 

 

5. Review the capital strategy in light of the climate emergency commitment. 

 

6. Consider the scope to achieve carbon reduction through the existing planned building 

maintenance programme. 

 

7. Deliver the communications plan to Members and staff. 

 

8. Continue to embed carbon reduction into appropriate procurement contracts, for example 

the new highways contract. 

 

9. Update the staff travel plan alongside the Future Workstyles review. 

 

 

Monitoring and reporting of progress 

 

The target is to reduce emissions by an average of 13% per year.  Until we are we are able to 

measure and report on our scope 3 emissions more accurately, and therefore know where 

and how to better influence these emissions, we are measuring and reporting on our 

performance against a 13% p.a. reduction target for scope 1 and 2 emissions This is monitored 

and reported quarterly to the Officer Climate Emergency Board, which has representatives 

from every department and is co-chaired by the Chief Operating Officer and the Director for 

Communities, Economy and Transport. Progress is also reported quarterly in the County 

Council’s strategic risk register. 

 

    

Example of what has been delivered: the infrared thermal images below illustrate the 

effectiveness of the window replacement programme at County Hall in 2016-17 in improving 

the energy efficiency of the building:   

 

 
 

 

Page 38



 

 

Appendix 3 – Scrutiny Review recommendations 
 
 
 

Recommendation 

 Building Energy Use 

1 Priority consideration should be given to the implementation of low carbon heating systems, 
e.g. the use of ground source and air source heat pumps, in all newly commissioned buildings 
and when renewing systems in existing buildings. The most energy efficient type of heat pump 
currently available should be used where possible (e.g. ground source, then air source heat 
pumps). 

2 The Council should keep the use of hydrogen gas heating technology under review and ensure 
all new or replacement boilers are capable of being ‘hydrogen ready’.  

3 a) The Council consider through the RPPR process opportunities for capital funding within the 
core capital programme to carry out carbon reduction projects in its corporate buildings, 
notably building fabric improvements, and lobbies Government for additional funding in this 
area. 

b) In developing energy efficiency projects, the Council should take a whole building approach, 
which is based on whole life costings. 

c) The Council should explore installing solar panels on its buildings and energy storage where 
this is possible. In particular, the Council should explore the feasibility of installing solar panel 
canopies over the car parks at County Hall and use the resultant energy in the building and to 
power Electric Vehicle/electric bike charge points in the car parks.  

4 a) The Council, in conjunction with maintained schools, publishes comparative data on energy 
efficiency (e.g. league tables and energy performance), sets a carbon reduction target and 
encourages engagement with pupils in learning projects and activities to reduce carbon 
emissions. 

b) The Council consider through the RPPR process providing capital funding for a pilot project 
to install heat pump technology in one of the County’s maintained schools as a best practice 
case study. 

5 The Council lobbies the Department for Education to provide sufficient funding for new 
schools to be built to a carbon neutral standard and provide funding for major improvements to 
retrofit energy efficiency and carbon reduction measures to all school buildings. 

6 The Council reviews the payback periods used for major building refurbishment projects and 
adjusts the provision of capital funding for carbon reduction projects to enable more work in 
this area to be carried out based on whole life costings. 

 Street Lighting Energy Use 

7 The Council: 

a) Explore the scope for further energy savings by reducing the amount of time street lights are 
on through ongoing maintenance and replacement programmes. 

b) Explore the use of alternative technologies such as solar and wind turbines for less 
essential lit signs and other street furniture. 

c) Keep the use of intelligent lighting systems for street lighting under review and install 
intelligent lighting in the car parks and campus at the County Hall campus as an example of 
best practice. 

Page 39



 

 

 Staff Travel & Commuting (including councillors) and Fleet Vehicles 

8 a) The Council explore more varied patterns of working to determine what is the best level of 
remote working from a staff perspective and for the Council to meet its business needs and 
reduce carbon emissions. 

b) Work is undertaken to support cultural change to embed changes in working practices that 
reduce the need to travel, or encourages less travel, such as the use of technology to hold 
meetings remotely and provide training using remote meeting technology. 

c) The Council explores the provision of more capacity for drop-in centres / hot desking and 
collaboration space in regional offices so staff do not always need to travel into the main office 
buildings, including County Hall, as part of the future workplace planning arrangements. 

d) The Council investigate the introduction of hybrid committee meetings where councillors 
can either attend remotely or in person. 

 

9 a) The Staff Travel Plan is revised to encourage, and where appropriate consideration is given 
to the potential for incentivising, the use of other travel modes (e.g. walking, cycling and public 
transport) and the uptake of Electric Vehicles to reduce carbon emissions. 

b) The Council considers lobbying the Department for Transport to make changes to season 
tickets for train and bus travel so they can be used flexibly by staff commuting to work. 

10 Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points are installed at the main office buildings, or at least 
County Hall, with a plan agreed by the end of March 2021. 

 

11 a) Smaller own fleet vehicles should be replaced by EV’s in the short term when the leases 
expire. 

b) Review the car lease scheme to encourage staff to select low emission or zero emission 
vehicles. 

c) The Council considers specifying the early use of low emission vehicles in the procurement 
of major contracts (e.g. the Highways maintenance contract), where feasible. 

12 The Council should keep the market for larger hydrogen powered vehicles under review, with a 
view to undertaking early pilot schemes and eventually phasing out the diesel-powered larger 
vehicles in its fleet in line with Government policy. 

 Carbon Off-Setting and Renewables 

13 The Council keeps opportunities for investing in natural habitats under review for inclusion in a 
carbon off-setting plan at the appropriate time when the science has been developed. 

14 a) The Council develops a carbon off-setting plan which includes investment in woodland 
creation, natural habitats and renewable energy generation. 

b) The Property Asset Disposal and Investment Strategy is reviewed to identify land availability 
and opportunities for carbon off-setting habitats and investment in the development of solar 
farms. 

 

 Communications and Leadership 

15 a) The Council develops an interactive communication/information platform, which includes 
details on what the Council itself is doing on climate change and to discuss opportunities 
where residents may take an active role in lowering community carbon emissions. 

Page 40



 

 

b) The Council uses its convening power to co-ordinate the actions it is taking on climate 
change with its partners, and in particular with the District and Borough Councils in East 
Sussex. 

 Other Issues 

16 Corporate systems 

a) Business case evaluation and procurement decisions should include an assessment of the 
carbon impact of the proposal. 

b) Reports that go to the Executive and Council should include an assessment or statement of 
the carbon emissions impact of the proposals/decision in the report where relevant and 
material. 

17 Planning 

The Council lobbies Government at a national level via ADEPT and the South East 7 
partnership, to amend the planning system and building regulations so that the carbon 
performance of new buildings, including school buildings, can be taken into account in 
planning decisions. 

18 Protecting trees 

a) ESCC build on the existing Dutch Elm Disease Strategy to develop a Strategic Tree Policy 
and action plan to manage Ash Dieback, Dutch Elm Disease and other tree diseases/pests 
which includes a programme to replace lost trees where possible (subject to safety issues) to 
mitigate the impact on carbon absorption. 

b) Both County and District/Borough Planning teams should be encouraged to attend the 
master class training provided by the Forestry Commission on the retention and protection of 
woodlands and trees. 

 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Decisions made by the Lead Cabinet Member on 6 July 2021
	4 Notice of Motion: Climate Change

